IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

ROMOKE OLUTUNDE, )  
 )  
 Petitioner-Appellant, )  
 )  
 v. ) S.C. CASE NO. 17-1650  
 )  
 IOWA DEPT. OF HUMAN SERVICES, )  
 CHARLES M. PALMER, DIRECTOR )  
 )  
 Respondents-Appellees. )

---

APPEAL FROM  
THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE PATRICK R. GRADY, JUDGE

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

Andrew B. Howie, AT0003716  
[howie@sagwlaw.com](mailto:howie@sagwlaw.com)  
James R. Hinchliff, AT0012296  
[hinchliff@sagwlaw.com](mailto:hinchliff@sagwlaw.com)  
Shindler, Anderson, Goplerud  
& Weese, P.C.  
5015 Grand Ridge Drive, Suite 100  
West Des Moines, Iowa 50265

## Statement of Issues Presented for Review

### 1. Standard of review.

*Locate.Plus.Com, Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 650 N.W.2d 609, 612 (Iowa 2002)

*Mosher v. Dep't of Inspections & Appeals, Health Facilities Div.*, 671 N.W.2d 501  
(Iowa 2003)

*Stone Container Corp. v. Castle*, 657 N.W.2d 485, 488 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa Code § 17A (2018)

### 2. **The district court erred by finding substantial evidence existed in the administrative record to support the Department's decision that Romoke committed dependent adult abuse against J.N. because the Department based their decision upon an irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable application of law to fact, ultimately prejudicing the substantial rights of Romoke.**

*Dunlavey v. Economy Fire & Casualty Co.*, 526 N.W.2d 845, 849 (Iowa 1995)

*Mosher v. Dep't of Inspections & Appeals, Health Facilities Div.*, 671 N.W.2d 501  
(Iowa 2003)

*University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics v. Waters*, 674 N.W.2d 92, 95 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-176.3 (2018)

Iowa Code § 17A (2018)

Iowa Code § 235B (2018)

- A. The Department incorrectly applied Iowa Administrative Code rule 441-176.3 and Iowa Code section 235B to the facts of this case.**

*Mosher v. Dep't of Inspections & Appeals, Health Facilities Div.*, 671 N.W.2d 501  
(Iowa 2003)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-176 (2018)

Iowa Code § 17A (2018)

Iowa Code § 235B (2018)

- B. The Department incorrectly applied Iowa Administrative Code rule 441-176.2 to the facts of this case.**

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-176 (2018)

- 3. The District Court erred by agreeing with the Department's interpretation of the *Mosher* case because the Department's interpretation of the *Mosher* case was incorrect, and based their finding of dependent adult abuse on the Department's interpretation.**

*Mosher v. Dep't of Inspections & Appeals, Health Facilities Div.*, 671 N.W.2d 501  
(Iowa 2003)

Iowa Code § 235B (2018)

## **Routing Statement**

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because no basis exists for the Supreme Court to retain this case for appellate review. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101. Further, this case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because it involves questions that can be resolved by applying existing legal principles. *See* R. 6.1101(3)(b).

## **Statement of the Case**

### **Nature of the case**

This case is an appeal from the Iowa District Court for Linn County regarding judicial review of a Department of Human Services (hereinafter “Department”) agency action on a founded dependent adult abuse report for Romoke Olutunde (hereinafter “Romoke”) under Iowa Code Chapter 17A. Romoke appeals the decision of the district court which affirmed the decision of the Department regarding said report. This appeal is from a final order. Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1) (2018).

### **Course of proceedings and disposition in district court**

The Department issued a Dependent Adult Abuse Report (“Report”) against Romoke on July 9, 2014. (App. at 1429-1455). All Ages Care Services, LLC (“All Ages Care”) is the organization to which Romoke and Soji Olutunde (hereinafter “Soji”) were associated. All Ages Care provided dependent adult

care services to individuals. J.N., age 56, is the dependent adult listed in the Report. (App. at 1429). The Report listed as founded an alleged denial of critical care, specifically physical care, of J.N. (App. at 1429). Roberta Fuchs prepared the Report which supervisor Amy Howell approved on July 16, 2014. (App. at 1430).

On July 16, 2014, the Department sent notice in the form of an Adult Protective Notification to Romoke that indicated Romoke was the alleged person responsible for dependent adult abuse of J.N. (App. at 1427-1428). The notification further indicated the allegation of denial of critical care was founded against Romoke. (*Id.*)

On July 22, 2014, Romoke appealed the Department's decision by providing proper notice. (App. at 1422-1426). The Iowa Department of Human Services Appeals Section ("Appeals Section") received Romoke's notice of appeal on July 28, 2014. (App. at 1422). The Appeals Section acknowledged receipt of Romoke's appeal on August 1, 2014. (App. at 1420-1421).

The Iowa Department of Inspections and Appeals Division of Administrative Hearings ("IDI&A") sent notice of a telephonic hearing to Romoke on August 5, 2014. (App. at 1418-1419). The IDI&A set the



telephonic hearing date for October 3, 2014, at 9:00 a.m. (*Id.*) Thereafter, the IDI&A issued a continuance of the telephonic hearing. (App. at 1415-1417).

The IDI&A administrative law judge (“ALJ”), Barbara Tabscott, consolidated three (3) appeals<sup>1</sup> into one telephone status conference set for October 3, 2014, at 8:30 a.m. (App. at 1415-1417).

On October 6, 2014, the ALJ set a hearing for the three (3) consolidated appeals for December 22-23, 2014, at 9:00 a.m. each day. (App. at 1413-1414). The Department moved to sever appeal number 14006546 from the consolidated appeals of 15000724 (on Founded Department Report No. 84153 on Soji dated July 8, 2014, regarding denial of physical care) and 15000727 (on Department Report No. 86143 on Romoke dated July 9, 2014 regarding denial of physical care). (App. at 1410-1412).

The ALJ granted the Department’s motion to sever. The ALJ then ordered appeals 15000724 and 15000727 proceed on the dates of December 22, 2014, and December 23, 2014, respectively, beginning at 9:00 a.m. each day. The ALJ issued her Order on the December 18, 2014. (App. at 1410-1412).

On Monday, December 22 and Tuesday, December 23, 2014, the parties gave several hours of testimony on the matter. (App at 323 (Tr. 1: all), 428 (Tr.

---

<sup>1</sup> Two of the three appeals were related to Soji and are *not* at issue in this appeal.

106: all)). The parties agreed that further testimony and introduction of additional exhibits was necessary. The parties further agreed to a continuance to allow time for submission of additional documents. The ALJ ordered the Department's attorney to submit the documents identified to her by Wednesday, January 14, 2015 by 5:00 p.m. (App. at 520 (Tr. 198:11-13); App. at 320-322). The December 23, 2014 hearing was scheduled to reconvene via telephone at 10:00 a.m., on Tuesday, January 27, 2015. (App. at 520 (Tr. 198:1-10); App. at 320-322).

After several issues arose between the parties and the ALJ regarding additional exhibits and testimony related thereto, the telephonic hearing scheduled for January 27, 2015, at 10:00 a.m., was ordered by the ALJ to convene in person on Tuesday, March 31, 2015, at 9:30 a.m. (App. at 271-272, 316-317 (Tr. 245:2-246:10)).

Following additional testimony and introduction of exhibits from the parties at the Tuesday, March 31, 2015 hearing, the ALJ submitted a Proposed Decision. (App. at 62-240; 44-58). The issue that the ALJ identified with the Department's Report was whether the "Department correctly classified reported incidents of dependent adult abuse as "Founded" naming the Appellants as the perpetrators of abuse by an act or acts of denial of critical care/lack of physical care." Ultimately, the ALJ reversed the Department's Report's "Founded"

determinations as to Romoke in its Proposed Decision and were found to be incorrect by the ALJ. (App. at 58).

Specifically, within the Proposed Decision, the ALJ found that the “Department’s decision does not comport with the statute or the Iowa Supreme Court’s interpretation of the statute.” (App. at 55). The ALJ then ordered in her Proposed Decision on July 30, 2015, that the Department’s decision be reversed and the Department issue reports changing its “Founded” determinations to “Unfounded.” (App. at 58).

On August 6, 2015, the Department issued a Memorandum to the Appeals Advisory Committee and requested review of the ALJ’s Proposed Decision. (App. at 41-43). The Appeals Advisory Committee received said Memorandum from the Department on August 7, 2015. (*Id.*) On August 7, 2015, the Appeals Advisory Committee requested that the Proposed Decision and the matter be reviewed. (App. at 40). The representative for the Appeals Advisory Committee, Tracey Parker, signed the Appeals Advisory Committee sign-off slip on August 7, 2015. (*Id.*)

The Appeals Advisory Committee submitted a review request to the Appeals Section on August 7, 2015. Charles M. Palmer, the director of the Department at the time, wrote a letter, dated August 10, 2015, to Romoke

indicating that he would issue a written Final Decision to her and all parties to the appeal. (App. at 39).

Counsel for Soji and Romoke submitted a resistance to the request for review on August 20, 2015. (App. at 37-38). On August 21, 2015, Rhonda Johnson, Appeals Liaison for the Appeals Section, responded to Romoke indicating receipt of her attorney's response to the AAC's request for review. (App. at 36). Ms. Johnson then indicated to Romoke that a final decision would be issued by the Director of the Department in appeal number 15000727. (*Id.*)

On March 3, 2016, a Final Decision was issued by the Director of the Iowa Department of Human Services, Charles M. Palmer. (App. at 31-35). Director Palmer reversed the decision of the ALJ and affirmed the action of the Department classifying the Report of dependent adult abuse as "Founded" against Romoke. (*Id.*)

Within the Director's Final Decision, Romoke was instructed to file within thirty days of the date of the Final Decision in the District Court in Polk County for judicial review of the Department Director's decision. (App. at 35). On April 5, 2016, Romoke electronically filed a Petition for Judicial Review of the Department's Final Decision in the Iowa District Court for Linn County pursuant to Iowa Code Section 17A.19. (App. at 6-7).

The Department filed a Motion to Dismiss Romoke's Petition on April 18, 2016. (App. at 8-10). The Department moved that the Petition be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction due to an allegation of failure to file within the thirty (30) days of final agency action required by Iowa Code Section 17A.19(3). (*Id.*) On April 20, 2016, Romoke submitted a resistance to the Department's Motion to Dismiss. (App. at 11-14). The Department submitted an Unresisted Motion for Enlargement of Time to submit and to seal the Administrative Record on May 2, 2016. (App. at 15-17). The Department requested forty-five (45) days from the ruling on the Motion to Dismiss to accomplish submission of the Administrative Record to the District Court and to seal the Administrative Record following submission to the District Court. (*Id.*)

On May 2, 2016, the Court granted the Department's Motion for Enlargement of Time to submit and seal the Administrative Record and provided the Department forty-five (45) days from the Court's ruling on the Motion to Dismiss to do so. (App. at 18-19). On June 23, 2016, the Court denied the Department's Motion to Dismiss and directed the Department to file an answer within ten (10) days of its ruling. (App. at 20-23).

The Department filed its Answer on July 22, 2016. (App. at 24-25). Romoke moved to enlarge the time required to file its Brief, which was unresisted

by the Department. (App. at 1457-1458). The Court granted Petitioner's application and granted an additional fifteen (15) days to file its Brief. (App. at 1459-1460).

On August 1, 2016, the Department submitted an unresisted motion to enlarge time and adjust briefing schedule to allow an additional ten (10) days to file their reply brief. (App. at 1461-1462). The Court ordered the time be enlarged, the Respondent be allowed accommodation, and Petitioner be allowed a ten (10) day extension beyond the Respondent's briefing timeline to submit their reply brief. (App. at 1463-1464).

On August 15, 2016 and August 17, 2016, the parties alerted the District Court that a technical error had occurred with the Iowa Department of Inspection and Appeals electronic record. (App. at 1465-1466, 1467-1468). A half-day portion of the electronically-recorded administrative proceedings was lost. Both Romoke and the Department requested additional time to evaluate the error in transcription. (*Id.*) The Court ordered on August 29, 2016, that additional time was granted to the Petitioner for the technical difficulties related to the record, and the Department's deadline was extended accordingly. (App. at 1469-1470).

The Department then filed an unresisted Motion to Remand back to the Department of Inspections and Appeals to allow the ALJ to prepare a statement

of the missing testimony as presented to the Court. (App. at 1471-1472). The Department submitted their unresisted Motion to Remand on September 30, 2016. (*Id.*) The Court ordered, on October 5, 2016, the case be remanded back to the Department so that the ALJ could provide a statement to recreate the missing portion of the record. (App. at 1473-1474). The ALJ then provided said statement of the missing testimony for the record. (App. at 1475-1488).

On April 13, 2017, the Department submitted an un-resisted application to supplement the administrative record and for a revised briefing schedule following receipt of the ALJ's statement as to the missing testimony from the electronic record. (App. at 1489-1491). The Department then supplemented the District Court's confidential record with the ALJ's statement on the missing electronic testimony with the permission of the Petitioner, as identified in the Department's un-resisted application to supplement the administrative record and for revised briefing schedule. (*Id.*) Also on April 13, 2017, the Court ordered a revised briefing schedule after remand. (App. at 1492-1493).

On May 26, 2017, Romoke submitted her brief to the Iowa District Court for Linn County. (App. at 1494-1507). On June 30, 2017, the Department submitted an Answer to Romoke's Petition. (App. at 1508-1509). On July 14, 2017, Romoke filed a Motion for Summary Judgment indicating the Respondent

and the Department failed to comply with court orders. (App. at 1510-1511). The Court responded to Romoke's Motion for Summary Judgment and indicated to the parties that if no resistance was filed within fifteen (15) days from the time Romoke filed her motion that summary judgment may be granted without further notice of the parties. (App. at 1512-1513).

The Department filed its brief on July 14, 2017. (App. at 1514-1526). Shortly thereafter, on July 14, 2017, Romoke filed a Motion to Strike Respondent's brief due to untimely filing. (App. at 1527-1528). On July 20, 2017, the Department submitted a resistance to Romoke's Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Strike. (App. at 1529-1534). In said resistance, the Department conceded that its briefs in both cases, one in Romoke's case and one in Soji's case, were due on June 30, 2017. (*Id.*) The Department further conceded that the Department prepared the proposed order that identified the briefing schedule for the Court's approval. (*Id.*)

The Respondent indicated they attempted to file both briefs, one for Soji's case and the other for Romoke's case, on June 30, 2017. (App. at 1508-1509). The PDF document filed in Romoke's case on June 30, 2017 was not a brief. (*Id.*) The document filed in Romoke's case on June 30, 2017 was a refile of the Respondent's Answer. (*Id.*)



The Department stated in their Resistance that the Department “apologizes for the error and requests an enlargement of time be granted to accept the late brief. The time frame for filing the brief was not jurisdictional.” (App. at 1530). The Department further requested in their Resistance that its Motion for Enlargement of Time be granted, its brief submitted on July 14, 2017 be accepted as timely, and that the Motion for Summary Judgment submitted by Romoke and Motion to Strike submitted by Romoke be denied. (App. at 1531).

On August 4, 2017, the Court concluded that Romoke’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Romoke’s Motion to Strike were denied and the Court also indicated the briefs filed by both parties would be considered by the Court. (App. at 1535-1536). The Court further advised on August 4, 2017 that a written ruling would be issued as soon as practical without oral argument. (*Id.*)

On September 20, 2017, the Iowa District Court for Linn County issued a ruling on Romoke’s Petition for Judicial Review. (App. at 1537-1555). The Court denied Romoke’s request for relief on judicial review and affirmed the Department’s Final Decision. (*Id.*) Romoke timely appealed thereafter to this Court for additional review. (App. at 1556).

## **Statement of the Facts**

The statement of the facts as indicated herein were first found by the ALJ in her Proposed Decision and adopted as written by the director of the

Department in his Final Decision. The facts listed herein are not all inclusive of every fact cited by the ALJ in her Proposed Decision but refer to relevant facts of the ALJ's Proposed Decision for purposes of this appeal and also cite to the transcript associated with the telephonic and in-person proceedings referenced above.

The alleged victim of dependent adult abuse in this case was a 56-year old female at the time of the Report. (App. at 1429). The initials of the alleged victim are J.N. (*Id.*) J.N. had been diagnosed with severe mental retardation, dementia, depression, Down Syndrome, and has a history of psychosis and seizures. (App. at 45). J.N. was described by her brother as "Child-like," and was unable to read, write, or handle her own medications. (*Id.*)

In December 2013, J.N. moved into a residence at 6051 Eastview Ave., SW, Cedar Rapids, Iowa. (App. at 33, 45). Soji and Romoke owned and operated this residence via All Ages Care Services, LLC.<sup>2</sup> (App. at 45.) When J.N. moved into the residence, the staff at 6051 Eastview Ave., SW, knew they

---

<sup>2</sup> According to testimony by Soji, All Ages Care was a sole proprietorship owned by Romoke; Soji was the administrator of All Ages Care. (App. at 432-433 (Tr. 110:24-111:25)).

were expected to locate a new family physician for J.N. and ensure that her prescriptions were filled. (*Id.*)

Dr. Timothy Volk saw J.N. once on March 18, 2014 for a general medical visit to help establish care, examine medical issues, and to help with her prescriptions and medications. (App. at 372 (Tr. 50:8-24)). Dr. Volk gave J.A. two weeks' worth of refills at the appointment – he was trying to bridge the medication gap between running out of medication and getting J.A. into a psychiatrist or a neurologist. (App. at 381 (Tr. 59:13-19)). Dr. Volk did not see J.A. again after the March 18, 2014 office visit. (App. at 372 (Tr. 50:22-24)).

Phenobarbital was prescribed for J.N. to control her seizures; this medication was to be taken three (3) times a day. (App. at 45). Specifically, J.N. was to take Phenobarbital in the morning, afternoon, and evening pursuant to doctor's orders. (*Id.*) At the time of the administrative hearing in front of the ALJ, Dr. Volk identified potential side effects of failure to take Phenobarbital regularly (if prescribed) could cause an individual to suffer convulsions, hallucinations, agitation, and irritability. (App. at 45, 377-378 (Tr. 55:15-56:9)).

J.N. was also prescribed Omeprazole for controlling her acid reflux and was to take Omeprazole at 3:00 p.m. daily. (App. at 45, 1104). The ALJ's findings of fact reflected that All Ages Care administered Omeprazole to J.N. at 2:00 p.m. daily. (App. at 45.) According to the Proposed Decision's findings

of fact, if J.N. did not take the Omeprazole as prescribed, “she was at risk for weight loss, muscle tremors and sweating (Volk Testimony).” (App. at 45-46). This fact as stated by the ALJ was not entirely correct. Dr. Volk testified that the only side effect J.N. would suffer if she did not receive her Omeprazole on time was that she could possibly lose weight. (See App. at 376-377 (Tr. 54:9-55:11)).

As a rule, J.N. was not to administer or even carry her own medications; All Ages Care staff was aware of this fact. (App. at 46, 1152, 1251, 1256). Specifically, the ALJ found that “staff administers all medications to her [J.N.] because she is not able to tell time and would not know what medications to take and when to take them.” (App. at 46).

The following incident reports were described in the findings of fact by the ALJ prior to J.N.’s attendance at REM:

1. On January 11, 2014, J.N.’s Case Manager Angela Albers received an incident report from All Ages Care indicating that J.N. was hospitalized with diagnosis of Colitis and Pneumonia;
2. An incident report on January 31, 2014 indicated that J.N. had blacked out; and
3. An incident report indicated that on February 24, 2014, J.N. was transported by ambulance to the hospital after throwing up and shaking badly.

(App. at 46).

On March 6, 2014, a day program operated by REM Iowa-Developmental Services, admitted J.N. to their program. (App. at 46). The REM program

was located in Hiawatha, Iowa. (*Id.*) An REM program admission meeting was held on March 6, 2014 for J.N. (*Id.*) REM program manager Stephanie Bawek, Case Manager Angela Albers, and All Ages Care representative Jennifer Rasmussen were in attendance at said REM program admission meeting. (*Id.*)

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