#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### No. 17-1650

# Linn County Case No. CVCV0085106

# ROMOKE OLUTUNDE, Plaintiff-Appellant, v.,

# IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES, CHARLES M. PALMER, DIRECTOR

Defendants-Appellees.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT JUVENILE DIVISION IN AND FOR LINN COUNTY

THE HONORABLE PATRICK R. GRADY, JUDGE

#### **APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF**

#### THOMAS J. MILLER

Attorney General of Iowa

### **CHARLES K. PHILLIPS**

Assistant Attorney General Hoover Building, Second Floor 1305 East Walnut Street Des Moines, IA 50319

Tel.: (515) 281-4674 Fax: (515) 281-7219

Email: <u>Charles.Phillips@ag.iowa.gov</u> ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

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

# **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant has challenged the Department's decision under the grounds for reversal of agency action set forth in Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(2017). The court may only interfere with an administrative agency's decision if it is erroneous under one of those grounds and a party's

substantial rights have been prejudiced. *Grant v. Iowa Dept. of Human Services*, 722 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2006) (rehearing denied).

A court's review of agency action is severely circumscribed; administrative process presupposes judgment calls are to be left to agency and nearly all disputes are won or lost there. *Sellers v. Employment Appeal Bd.*, 531 N.W. 2d 645 (Iowa App. 1995). Thus, court may reverse, modify, or grant other appropriate relief only if agency action is affected by an error of law, is unsupported by substantial evidence, or is characterized by an abuse of discretion. *Id.* 

Appellant argues that the findings against her were not supported by substantial evidence, a grounds for reversing an agency decision under Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(f) (2017). In *Mercy Health Center, A Division of Sisters of Mercy Health Corp. v. State Health Facilities Council*, 360 N.W.2d 808 (Iowa 1985), the Court stated the following at pages 811-812:

Evidence is substantial if a reasonable person would find it adequate to reach the given conclusion, even if a reviewing court might draw a contrary inference. [citation]. Moreover, the fact that agency might draw inconsistent conclusions . . . does not necessarily suggest its final conclusion is unsupported by substantial evidence [citation]. Although there considerable evidence at variance with the agency decision there was substantial factual evidence to support it.

Because review is not de novo, the court must not reassess the weight to be accorded various items of evidence. *Aalbers v. Iowa Dept. of Job Service*, 431 N.W.2d 330, 334 (Iowa 1988). Weight of evidence remains within the agency's exclusive domain. Under these circumstances great care must be taken by the reviewing court to avoid moving from the prescribed limited review into one that is de novo. *Burns v. Iowa Board of Nursing*, 495 N.W.2d 698, 699 (Iowa 1993).

Appellant also argues that the Department's position was an illogical, unjustifiable, and irrational interpretation of law under Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(c). Specifically, she disagrees with the Respondent-Department's application of the term "caretaker" to her. As noted by Appellant, the interpretation of statutes is ultimately up to the courts. However, as is also noted by the Appellant, the DHS has the discretion to interpret the laws pertaining to adult abuse, and there interpretations are entitled to deference. *Mosher v. Department of Inspections and Appeals*, 671 N.W.2d 501, 509-510 (Iowa 2003) (also dealing with an interpretation of the term "caretaker").

# II. THE ALLEGATIONS OF ADULT-ABUSE WERE PROVEN BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

#### A. It was shown that Romoke Olutunde was a Caretaker

This is an appeal from a finding of adult abuse. Normally, there are three elements that must be found to exist before a finding of an adult abuse can be made. There must be a dependent adult, a caretaker, and there must have been dependent adult abuse as that term is defined in the Iowa Code. 441 IAC 176.3(1). As to the first element, there is no question that the 55 year-old adult who was the subject of this case, J.N., was a dependent adult. She had moderate to severe Downs Syndrome and dementia and required a case manager. (App. 1482-1483, Admin. Rec. 1434-1435). She could not read or write, could barely speak, and required 24-hour care. (App. 1476, 1482-1483, Admin. Rec. 1428, 1434-1435). She could not administer her own medication. (App. 1482, Admin. Rec. 1434). At the time of relevance to this appeal, from late December 2013 to May of 2014, she resided at All Ages Care, a three-building waiver facility owned and operated by the Appellant. (App. 127-129, Admin. Rec. 97-99).

On this appeal, Appellant challenges, amongst other things, whether it was shown that she was J.N.'s caretaker. She does so despite having admitted responsibility for caring for J.N. during the investigation (App 180, Admin. Rec. 1050) and in her testimony during the administrative appeal. (App. 167, Admin. Rec. 137). It is submitted there is little doubt that Romoke Olutunde, along with her husband Soji, was J.N.'s caretaker at the

time in question. She owned the agency and was the agency's clinical director, as, unlike her husband, she had a medical background as a certified nursing assistant. (App. 443, 470, Admin. Rec. 413, 440). She trained, supervised and assigned J.N.'s caretakers and those who supervised them. (App. 138-139, Admin. Rec. 108-109). She occasionally provided direct care to J.N. herself. (App. 158-159, Admin. Rec. 128-129).

The nature of the operation of All Ages Care indicates that she and Soji should be found to have had primary responsibility for the care of J.N. Staff generally worked at All Ages Care for only a few months. (App. 444-453, Admin. Rec. 414-423). This was true of the staff that worked with J.N. (App. 444-448, 461-464, Admin. Rec. 414-418, 431-434). This included the administrators as well as the front-line staff. (App. 445, Admin. Rec. 415). The person who had admitted J.N. in December, G.M., had a role that was, to some extent, the focus of the report. She was the one who did J.N's intake and the one who made assurances to the care manager that the facility could care for J.N., arrange for her medical care, and obtain her prescriptions through local providers. (App. 1483-1484, Admin. Rec. 1435-1436). But, by the time of the investigation, she left the facility. (App. 470, Admin. Rec. 440). This left the Olutundes as responsible for keeping her promises, hiring a replacement, and maintaining the proper care for J.N. They were the only

constant in J.N's care during the four months of her stay there, as the staff turned over almost completely during that time. (App. 446-448, 461-464, Admin. Rec. 416-418, 431-434). Appellant Romoke remained as sole owner and clinical director of the facility. (App. 433, 439, 443, Admin. Rec. 403, 409, 413). Soji was an administrator or manager. (App. 433, 438, Admin. Rec. 403, 408). As mentioned above, he eventually (April 24) he had to vacate the facility due to his other abuse reports. (App. 437, 1480, Admin. Rec. 407, 1432). This left the Appellant as the agency's sole owner and clinical director. (App. 433, 443, 463, Admin. Rec. 403, 1413, 1433). This left her as solely responsible for the operation of the facility along with newly hired administrator, S.B. (App.434, 437-438, Admin. Rec. 404, 407-408). This was somewhat problematic as S.B. seems to have limited qualifications for the position. His previous employment working through a Christian services agency to assign youth to do projects for the elderly. (App. 182-183, Admin. Rec. 152-153). He did not have any degrees or relevant institutional experience (App. 177, Admin. Rec. 147) but, despite this, became "administrator" of the entire facility within two weeks of his employment by the agency. (App 180, Admin. Rec. 150). Though the facility only survived a few months after his January hire, he apparently remains there as driver, janitor and handyman. (App 177, Admin. Rec. 147).

Thus, within months of J.N's placement, the facility was operating with almost entirely new staff, staff without the qualifications to maintain her safely. The appellant seemed to be in charge of medical care in the place. She trained many of the staff in administering medications and was responsible for triaging incoming clients. (App. 138-139, 164-166, 187, Admin. Rec. 108-109, 134-136, 157). Her qualification for this were her certification as a nurse's assistant, and, of course her status as CEO of the entire operation. (App. 468, Admin. Rec. 438). New staff were trained in administering medication by a video, though the precise nature of that video is not clear. (App. 139, 464-465, Admin. Rec. 109, 434-435). Though the Olutundes denied it, one of the few staff to talk to DHS maintained that she was administering medication the day she was hired. (App 1175-1177, Admin. Rec. 1145-1147). It is not surprising therefore, that J.N, with her multiple medications that had to be obtained and administered at different times a day by different parties, did not receive the proper medication and suffered seizures and hospitalizations because of it.

"Caretaker" means a related or non-related person who has the responsibility for the protection, care, or custody of a dependent adult as a result of assuming the responsibility voluntarily, by contract, through employment, or by order of the court. Iowa Code section 235B.2(1) (2017)

It is submitted that Appellant assumed care for J.N. by contract or through employment. The staff member who admitted J.N. was trained by Romoke who went back to doing aspects of her job when that staff member left. (App. 445, 470, Admin. Rec. 415, 440). The Olutundes took J.N. into their facility and placed her under the care of staff they hired and trained. By the time this adult abuse investigation occurred, virtually all of those staff had left the facility and J.N was under the care of newly hired staff. (App. 463-464, Admin. Rec. 433-434). The individuals as working in J.N.'s house all left. The party identified as the supervisor of the house, R.S., not only left, she even denied that she had in fact been assigned to that house. (App. 1477, Admin. Rec. 1429). She did not appear for a formal interview, nor did anyone who worked under her in that particular house. (App. 1477-1478, 1480, Admin. Rec. 1429-1430, 1432).

Thus, Appellant's argument that she was not a caretaker for J.N. is made herein without being able to produce anyone who admits to having been in that capacity. It is submitted that she was responsible for this scenario, being the owner of the facility and by continuing to operate a facility where the more direct caretakers came and went. As founder, owner and clinical director of the facility in which J.N. was placed, she should have been able to identify persons hired by her who would admit to having been

in charge of J.N.'s care. Her duties as J.N.s caretaker may have largely consisted of placing her in the care of people who would properly care for her, but she failed in that duty. Eventually the whole facility was shut down amongst neighborhood meetings and investigations by Medicaid authorities and even the local television stations. (App. 1068, 1071, Admin. Rec. 1038, 1071).

# B. It was shown that Romoke Olutunde Denied J.N. Critical Care.

Appellant denies that the third element of adult abuse was present, i.e., that adult abuse or neglect occurred as that element is defined by the code and regulations. However, there was substantial evidence to support a finding of dependent adult abuse under those standards which defines such abuse to include:

- (1) Any of the following a result of the willful or negligent acts or omissions of a caretaker:

  \* \* \*
- (d) The deprivation of the minimum food, shelter, clothing, supervision, physical or mental health care, or other care necessary to maintain a dependent adult's life or health.

  \* \* \*

Iowa Code section 235B.2(5) (a) and 441 IAC section 176.1

Petitioner argues that it was not shown that J.N. failed to receive this type of proper care. However, it was shown that J.N. did not receive the

care necessary to maintain her life and health. She did not receive proper medication, specifically medication to treat her acid reflux and her seizure disorder. In the main incident focused upon in the report, J.N. attended a day program or "Day Hab" at another facility while at All Ages Care. (App. 1476, Admin. Rec. 1428). She was transported there by bus. It was important that her medication follow her there as she took medicine throughout the day. In a meeting it was established that the medication would have to be transported through the driver of the bus that took her to the facility. (App. 342-344, Admin. Rec. 312-314). If it were placed in her backpack, she might eat it with adverse consequences to her health. (App. 1477, Admin. Rec. 1429). Despite this, the medicine was sent in her backpack anyway. (App. 342, Admin. Rec. 315). This was admitted by the new administrator. (App. 194-195, Admin. Rec. 164-165). Additionally, because the day facility had not yet been not authorized to administer her medication, All Ages Care staff were to travel to the other facility and administer the medication. All Ages Care staff failed to show up when they were supposed to administer medication. (App. 339-340, Admin. Rec. 309-310). This even occurred on the day of the meeting held to establish the transition protocol. (App. 1483, Admin. Rec. 1437). Their records on the matter were confusing and tend to confirm that J.N. did not get her meds.

(App. 483-485, 694-697, Admin. Rec. 453-455, 664-667). As stated in the review request in the administrative appeal:

Neither her case manager, Angela Albers, nor the admitting people at the day perceived her to have received the proper medication, and both thought it was being inappropriately transported. Stephanie Bawek of the day-program felt that it was clear from the bubble packs that J.N. did not receive her medication. Dr. Timothy Volk testified as to the harm that could occur upon such a failure. Thus, the Department established the immediate and potential danger associated with the Appellant's failure to see that J.N.'s medications were properly administered.

(App. 42, Admin. Rec. 12).

Assuming that J.N. was deprived of proper medication in the chaotic environment of All Ages Care, one might expect her health to suffer. This did, in fact, happen. J.N.'s condition deteriorated while at All Ages Care. After arrival at the agency's house, J.N. began to lose weight according to her case manager. According to her case manager she lost 66 pounds between her arrival in late December 2013 and departure five months later. (App. 1486, Admin. Rec. 1438). After her arrival, she began having seizures and going to the hospital frequently (App. 1483-1485, Admin. Rec. 1435-1437). This was not consistent with her history. (App. 1478, 1485, Admin. Rec. 1430, 1437). This was consistent with the erratic administration of her medicine. (App. 1483-1485, Admin. Rec. 1435-1437).

Her case manager testified that she did not have seizures unless she did not get her medication. (App. 1485, Admin. Rec. 1437). The increase in seizures and hospitalizations started in January of 2014, soon after her December 27, 2013 admission to All Ages Care. Shortly thereafter she began to have her first seizures in almost a year. (App. 1485, Admin. Rec. 1437).

The chaotic conditions at All Ages Care were a contributing factor in her neglect. J.N. had lost her previous placement in Grinnell due to its closure. (App. 1483, Admin. Rec. 1435). Her case manager looked for a new placement, found All Ages Care, and met with that agency about J.N.'s admission. (App. 1483-1484, Admin. Rec. 1435-1436). The facility, or, specifically its admissions director, "G. M", met with the case manager and was given instructions for J.N.'s care, along with her prescriptions. (App. 1483-1484, Admin. Rec. 1435-1436). The understanding was that the facility would then be responsible for refilling the prescriptions with local providers. (App. 1484, Admin. Rec. 1436). However, "G.M.", the party who admitted J.N., soon ceased her employment with the agency, (App. 445, 470, Admin. Rec. 415, 440) as did virtually everyone else working there. (App. 142, 447-448, Admin. Rec. 112, 417-418). It was difficult to locate employees of the facility who would admit responsibility for J.N. J.N. was

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